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Senate Oversight Committee

Hearing re: TCF Center Absentee Vote Counting Boards

Testimony of Philip Mayor, Senior Staff Attorney, ACLU of Michigan
December 8, 2020

My name is Philip Mayor, senior staff attorney at the ACLU of Michigan. After widespread reporting
about the events at TCF center on November 4th, | and other ACLU attorneys began contacting election
challengers and poll workers to obtain an accurate picture of what happened in the TCF center during
the days of counting. We independently took affidavits from the individuals we spoke with, compiling
30 mutually corroborating affidavits which | have submitted to the Committee along with a written copy
of this testimony. Some of these affiants would have liked to testify here today, but we have advised
them not to after members of this committee themselves faced death threats from members of the
public after attempting to provide a balanced account of what happened at TCF Center. | would
therefore like to briefly summarize for the committee four themes that emerge from these affidavits.

The first theme is that none of these 30 affiants saw evidence of any sort of misconduct, fraud, or
impropriety by poll workers. Quite the contrary: several affiants witnessed poll workers patiently
explaining what they were doing to underinformed and untrained challengers who did not understand
the process. Indeed, many affiants provide information that directly rebuts or explains the allegations of
misconduct leveled in many of the unsuccessful lawsuits that have been filed around the state.

The second theme is that every single affiant witnessed rude and aggressive conduct by Republican
challengers and challengers affiliated with the Election Integrity Fund (EIF). The affiants repeatedly
witnessed such challengers asking questions of, and on several occasions actually screaming at, line staff
instead of raising concerns with supervisors (as is required), taking photos and video (which is
prohibited), violating social distancing rules (also prohibited), and congregating around poll workers
despite a rule that only one challenger from each party was allowed at each counting table. Affiant
DeRone Buffington’s testimony—he was in charge of monitoring the activities of challengers from all
sides—is particularly thorough in this regard. Numerous affiants commented on the disturbing racial
dynamic of almost all-white challengers acting so disrespectfully towards, and endangering the health
of, the majority-Black election workers. Several affiants describe the atmosphere as feeling like a
plantation.

The third theme is that every single affiant, throughout the counting process, witnessed at least an
equal number of Republican challengers as Democratic challengers in the counting room at all times,
including during the afternoon of November 4. | would also direct the committee’s attention to the
affidavit of Emily Harris, a non-partisan challenger who was herself locked out on the afternoon of
November 4, who recounts poll workers clearly explaining to the locked-out challengers from all sides
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that the reason for the lockout was that the room was at capacity. Affiant Sommer Woods was working
at the door as a worker for the City that day and similarly describes the actions staff took.

Fourth, and most distressing, these affidavits establish a theme that Republican and EIF-affiliated
challengers systematically sought to disenfranchise Detroit voters without lawful cause. Non-partisan
challenger Elizabeth Temkin heard a supervisor for the Republican challengers instruct another
challenger to “write down as much stuff as possible, because we need to get as many [ballots] thrown
out as we can.” Affiant Brendan Flynn, another non-partisan challenger, witnessed a Republican
challenger seek to have all of the ballots from an entire absentee counting board disqualified because
one poll worker initially did not have her nametag on. Two affiants, Patricia Dewald and Khalilah Burt
Gaston, witnessed Republican challengers threatening to “exercise their second amendment rights”
when they became upset about one thing or another.

The vast majority of affiants, including non-partisan challenger Joseph Zimmerman were present on the
afternoon of November 4 when the attempt to disenfranchise voters and intimidate poll workers
accelerated. The affiants describe how Republican challengers were instructed to (and in fact did) begin
challenging every single ballot without a lawful reason. Most of the ballots being challenged in this
manner were military ballots. Around the same time, the affiants witnessed Republican and EIF
challengers inside and outside of the room conspire to chant “STOP THE COUNT.” Those chanting
outside the room were banging on the windows, causing the walls to shake and terrifying people inside
who worried that an angry mob might be about to overrun the counting room. Affiant Nicole Rittenour
was a poll worker who was told by a supervisor to move her bags out of the aisleways so that the poll
workers could flee if necessary.

In sum, these mutually corroborating and independent affidavits show that the process at TCF was
orderly and lawful—or at least it would have been but for the deliberate disruptions and antics of
aggressive and threatening Republican and EIF challengers. If there is something to investigate about
the events at TCF, it is not the conduct of the poll workers who labored selflessly during a pandemic in
the face of often vicious and seemingly racist harassment—but, rather, it is the coordinated conduct of
the aggressive, underinformed, and lawless challengers who would not let the poll workers do their job.
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SARAH BENDER, BEING OF FULL AGE, N

“ N

AFFIDAVIT OF SARAH BENDER
HER OATH, DEPOSES AND SAYS:

12m over the 2ge of 21 years and if sworn as 2 wimess | am competent to testify
about the maters set forth herein based on personal knowledge except where the
matter is indicated to be based on information and beljef.

I 2m currently a law student at the University of Michigan.

I2m a registered voter in Ann Arbor, Michigan,

Atmy law school, I am a member of the non-partisan Michigan Voting Prcject
(MVP). On the Monday before the general election, I learned through MVP that
there was a need for non-partisan challengers to serve in Detroit observing the
Absentee Vote Counting Board (AVCB) at TCF Convention Center. I signed up
to work there on Election Day, Tuesday November 3, 2020.

I entered TCF around 6:30 a.m. on November 3, as a non-partisan challenger
credentialed by the Lawyers Committee for Civil Rights Under Law, and served
in that capacity until shortly after 8:00 p.m. when the polls closed.

From my observation, there were at least 25% more Republican challengers and
Election Integrity Fund challengers (who appeared to be cooperating with
Republican challengers) in the room than Democratic challengers. In addition,
Republican challengers seemed to come and go throughout the day, even though
my understanding is that we were supposed to be required to remain at the AVCB
until the polls closed at 8:00 p.m.

In addition to the Republican challengers, there were a number of challengers
from a non-partisan group called the Election Integrity Fund (EIF). The EIF
challengers very combative throughout the day.

Both EIF and Republican challengers were extremely lax about wearing their
masks. I repeatedly saw such challengers wearing masks below their nose when
speaking to people, including election workers, and pulling their masks down
while in the main room. In the break room that was shared by all challengers,
they routinely took off their masks even when not eating. Throughout the day, 1
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10.

1.

12

also saw these challengers stang too close to election workers and other
challengers and refuse to maintajp, social distancing

I'spent several hours observing the proceedings at the adjudication screens in the
middle of the room. These screens are where election workers adjudicate how
votes have been cast in the case of bajlots that the tabulator cannot read, for
example because the voter used check marks rather than filling in ovals on the
ballot. At each screen there were two election workers adjudicating the results of
ballots and challengers from both political parties observing. At one point, an
election worker at the screen I was monitoring overheard some of the Republican
or EIF challengers (I can’t remember which) speculate about whether there were
actually Republican election workers at each screen. He turned around and
informed the challenger that there was a Republican in each pair.

At one point during the afternoon, I overheard a Republican challenger inform his
colleagues that things were actually going pretty smoothly and that he was
especially impressed with the software being used on the adjudication screens.
Later in the day, all of the Republican challengers huddled up in a corner of the
room. There appeared to be at least 100 of them. I don’t know exactly what was
discussed, but it seemed like a pep talk designed to rile the challengers up, and as
they came out of the huddle, they swarmed across the room, approaching tables in
groups, aggressively questioning election workers and other challengers, and
failing to observe social distancing. Their tone became even more combative
immediately.

At that point, I was near a table where a Republican or EIF challenger was able to
observe what election workers processing ballots were doing on their computers
by watching a monitor that had been set up for our viewing. An EIF challenger
reached out and grabbed the monitor and adjusted it so that he would be standing
closer to the election worker while viewing both the monitor and her laptop
screen. This prevented other challengers from seeing the monitor. I observed a
Democratic challenger tell this man that the challengers were not supposed to be
touching equipment and ask him to give some space to the election worker. 1

came up to the table to observe the conflict. At that point the EIF worker,
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apparently mistaking me and another non-partisan challenger for additional
Democratic challengers, triumphantly said, “Oh yeah?! I'm not supposed to touch
the equipment? Well there isn’t supposed to be two of you at the table!” It
seemed clear to me that the challenger was attempting to instigate a conflict and

rile people up rather than actually monitor in good faith the count happening
around us.

13.  Ingeneral, what I observed was a great deal of deference being given by the

election staff and security officers to the challengers. Things were explained to
challengers, and at one point Daniel Baxter, one of the election workers
coordinating the whole room, even came over the loudspeaker to explain the
ballot duplication process to everyone and to remind election workers that
challengers were allowed to be present and observe duplication. Republican
challengers who were aggressive, including verbally threatening and invading the
space of others, were repeatedly cautioned and treated with deference rather than

being removed, as may have been appropriate for their conduct.

AFFIRMATION

I affirm that the contents of this affidavit are tm(g/2 correct to the best of my jnowledge
Signature of the person making this affidavit:

e
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AFFIDAVIT OF RAYMOND CORRELL

RAYMOND CORRELL, BEING OF FULL AGE, ON HIS OATH, DEPOSES
AND SAYS:

1. T am over the age of 21 and if sworn as a witness, I am competent to testify
about the matters set forth herein, based upon personal knowledge,

except where the matter is indicated to be based on information and
belief.

2. 1 am a registered voter in Waterford Township, Michigan.

3. On November 4, 2020, I received an e-mail from the Michigan Education
Association requesting nonpartisan observers at the TCF Center while the
remaining absentee votes were counted.

4. 1 arrived at 11:30 am and was credentialed as a nonpartisan observer for the
Lawyers’ Committee for Civil Rights Under Law. I was allowed inside
with my credentials.

INd 80:0T:% ¥207/01/9 DSIN 49 AIATADTY

5. I was outraged when I heard that Republicans were claiming that they were
not allowed inside the TCF Center, because I observed one Republican
and one Democrat at each table. I was asked to sign in as I entered the
building. I was asked to sign out when I left. Each party had 134 people
that were allowed inside. When the party reached 134, nobody else from
that party was allowed inside. When I arrived, both Republicans and
Democrats had 134 people present, and therefore, people from both
parties were waiting outside. After the building reached capacity, nobody
was allowed inside, regardless of political affiliation.

6. People were standing right over the election workers while they processed
ballots. And, challengers were able to observe the ballots so closely that
one Republican even challenged a ballot by claiming that the postmark
on its envelope wasn’t valid. The election worker handling the ballot
showed the challenger the postmark to satisfy the challenge.

7. 1 observed one table where a Republican challenger was objecting to every
ballot to ask to for its identifying information, which was provided to him
each time. He was objecting simply to cause a delay. Many Republican
challengers were frivolously challenging every single vote. They were
also ignoring social distancing rules.

8. I was at the front of the room when the doors were locked. People outside
then started yelling and screaming that they were not allowed to come in.
They started pounding on the glass, and people were legitimately
concerned that the glass might break from the pounding. The people
outside were allowed to protest, but they became very disruptive. The
people inside were scared. Because there were ballots being counted right
under the windows that were being pounded on, the windows were
covered up with cardboard after the protesting became too distracting.

9. I watched another Republican challenger challenge every ballot. As ballots
were being duplicated, she stated, “I challenge all of those ballots from
this one on.” She did not give a basis for her challenge. I replied that I
was watching the ballots being counted and that they should all be
counted.

10. What was striking about the events at the TCF Center was that the most
disruptive people were angry white people attempting to disenfranchise
Black voters and intimidate Black election workers. I was impressed by
the patience of the election workers, who were visibly affected by the Ex A 000015



angry mob outside, but continued to work diligently regardless.
AFFIRMATION

I affirm that the contents of this affidavit are true and ¢ o the best of
my knowledge. %

Signature of the person making this afﬁdav1t 4
Affirmed before me this _[ﬂ%ay of Alov

My commission expires on _//-£03 - 2025"
Signature of Officer Administering Oath _ /3
Title

N

(IE[AIE[C)E[H

0]

bnd PK e, k/a:tmée?d,@k

JEAN A. LANKFORD
Notary Public. State of Mlchlgan
County of Oakland

My Gommission Expires Nov 03,2025
Acting in the Gounty of Qgﬁfa %i
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AFFIDAVIT OF ANJANETTE DAVENPORT HATTER
I, Anjanette Davenport Hatter, being of full age, on my oath, deposes and says:

1. My name is Anjanette Davenport Hatter. [ am a registered voter and I live in
Redford, Michigan, in Wayne County. I was born and raised in the City of Detroit. I worked as
a Section Supervisor for the Team B shift of election inspectors at the Detroit Absent Voter
Counting Boards at the TCF Center on Election Day, November 3, 2020, and the day after,
November 4, 2020.

2. In my role as Section Supervisor, three of us (two Section Supervisors and one
Team Lead) were responsible for five counting boards (AV##46-50) each with five election
inspectors. We were present to address any questions the election inspectors had with the
process or if there was any issue with a given ballot. All of the Supervisors had substantial
training over a period of a couple months. As Supervisors, we wore black bottoms with a white
shirt that had the emblem for Department of Elections, Central Counting Board, Section
Supervisor embroidered on it. Qur elections inspectors had consistent instructions to do what
they were trained to do, to ensure that all ballots were properly counted. Without a doubt, the
only ballots counted were valid, submitted, absentee ballots.

3. Our 25 election inspectors worked like a well-oiled machine. Those workers, the
other Section Supervisor and myself, and the Team Lead were all a team, who worked to process
and count all of the absentee ballots for our counting boards. Each table had a red flag that
would put in the air if they had questions.

4, On November 3, 2020, our team was there for the sequestered 6:00 a.m. to 8:00
p.m. shift, though we arrived quite a bit earlier to ensure we were all in our places once 6:00 a.m.

hit and we were able to begin our work. Trained challengers have a right to observe and to pose
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their challenges, but they do not have a right to speak to the inspectors. I fully understood the
delineation of roles, but never could I have been prepared for what we encountered from the
Republican challengers over the course of the counting period.

5. During the sequestered period on Tuesday, there were a number of Republican
challengers stood too close to the workers and asked them questions, which they should have
been directing to me, my co-Supervisor, or the Team Lead. The behavior of the Republican
challengers on Tuesday though, while I felt tension brewing, was nowhere as extreme as what
we experienced on Wednesday. We were, of course, mindful that we are in an active pandemic
and so wanted the challengers to give the election inspectors adequate space.

6. The duplication process for ballots was completed at the precinct tables. Three
clection inspectors were present to complete the duplication: one reader, one writer, and one
verifier. In our Section, the verifier would sit in between the reader and the writer. The reader
would read the ballot selection from the original ballot, and the writer would write that selection
onto the duplicate ballot. The verifier would observe both the selection being read off the
original ballot, and observe the same being filled in on the duplicated ballot. All three would
write their initials on both the original and duplicated ballot, and “original-#" on the original
ballot, and “duplicate-#” on the corresponding duplicated ballot. The original would be placed in
an envelope marked for originals, and the duplicate would be processed accordingly. This whole
process was well observed by challengers in the room. The challengers had access to all
processes; both Democratic challengers and Republican challengers had complete access at all of
the precincts I was in charge of. I was very particular about supervising the duplication process;

for each duplication at our five counting boards where I was present, I did not leave that space

while it was ongoing. It was a consistent theme for the Republican challengers to say that they
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could not see during this process, so I would be in a position where I could see completely, so I
would tell them that if they could not see, that I had a complete view from where I was standing,
so that they could come stand in that position they could certainly see. Most of the Republican
challengers with this complaint did not take me up on changing their position, so it appeared to
me that it was not an actual complaint, but part of an effort to be disruptive. The Democratic and
non-partisan challengers observing the same process did not have any complaint about being
unable to see. Based on the behavior of the Republican challengers, and their seeming total lack
of knowledge of both the absentee counting process and the challenge process it appeared that
their strategy was to disrupt.

7. On Wednesday, the Team B hours were 5:30 a.m. to 9:00 p.m., however the
counting board went far longer than that because of the sheer volume of absentee ballots, so the
City requested that more of us stay in order to do the close out. 1stayed until 12:30 a.m., early
on the 5th, but needed to leave at that time because my mother was staying at my house with my
children and she needed to get home. 1 had begun to feel the tension brewing on Election Day,
so on Wednesday, I brought a container of milk with me concerned about the risk of tear gas.

8. On Wednesday, the Republican challengers were always in the room. In the early
part of the shift, there were more Republican challengers than Democratic challengers, but the
balanced out. The behavior in the room changed dramatically in the afternoon: the rage in the
room from Republican challengers was nothing I had ever experienced in my life. I later learned
that it was when the news announced that President-elect Biden took the lead in Michigan
matched up to when the behavior changed dramatically. The Republican challengers were
always present, but when President-elect Biden took the lead, it became full-throttle disruption. I

told my election inspectors, that not only for questions, but if they felt in distress from the

Ex A_000019

INd 80:0T:% ¥207/01/9 DSIN 49 AIATADTY



behavior of the Republican challengers to raise the red flag. My goal and the goal of my co-
Supervisor and Team Lead was to create an environment of safety for our election inspectors,
that I would protect them and take care of them.

9. The majority of the Republican challengers I observed disregarded almost all of
the rules. They insisted on speaking directly to the inspectors, and would feign ignorance when
corrected (i.e., just say, “oh, I didn’t know” or “oh, I wasn’t aware™) even though we made the
rules in our Section very clear at the outset, specifically telling them of the rules of engagement,
and the same individuals had already previously been told the same thing. After this repeatedly
occurring, I told the Republican challenger that I wanted her to understand that complying with
the rules was serious, and that she needed to take the same message back to her colleagues. 1
asked her if I made myself clear. I needed my 25 election inspectors to hear and see that so they
knew that they were protected in our section and their sole focus could be on the job they were
here to do.

10. On Wednesday, I had to put my body physically in between a Republican
challenger and one of my election inspectors. The Republican challenger—a white woman with
long dark hair, wearing denim overalls with a bib—was standing right on top of my election
inspector and she was speaking into her smart watch, connected to her phone, which was not
permitted at the AV tables. Iasked her to back up repeatedly, and she was screaming that she
had a right to be there. I could see that my election inspector’s hands were trembling. I told her
that she was on her phone, and when you are on the phone you are not permitted to observe, so
she needed to back up. That Republican challenger was behaving the same way in muitiple

sections of the counting room, and she eventually was escorted out.
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11.  Another Republican challenger—a middle-aged white woman with brown, neck
length hair—became bothered that one of the inspectors was typing in a name to electronic poll
book. She kept insisting that the election inspector was adding voters who had not been
registered into the voter registration database. She was completely mistaken about the process. It
was not a voter registration database; it was the list of people who had returned absentee ballots,
but it was cut off for the ballots that had been received by Sunday, 11/1. For ballots that were
returned on Monday, 11/2, and Tuesday, 11/3, they individuals needed to be put into the
electronic poll book in order to be processed. The allegations of wrong doing leveled at the
election workers by the Republican challengers stemmed from the challengers being ill-prepared.
I do not think they understood what they were observing, and so assumed bad intentions for the
people of Detroit.

12. A male Republican challenger—a white gentleman wearing a red sweater—had a
number of other Republican challengers walking around with him going around questioning each
AV table, and was repeatedly filming on his camera. You could follow him with your eyes
walking around the room, and he was behaving the same way in each of the sections, it was not
unique to when they were in my section.

13.  The counting room was completely open, so you could see and hear everything
that was going on. In the mid-afternoon on Wednesday, there was a huge commotion, and you
could see this whole crowd pressed up against the windows outside and banging on the glass
wall. In addition to this external disruption, the Republican challengers actually inside the room
started angrily chanting “Stop the Count” inside the room. This was extremely concerning to
me. A few of our elderly election inspectors had lived through racial terror in the earlier

twentieth century before; they were asking me “am I safe?”, “are we safe?”. I had fear in my
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heart, wondering what would happen if that crowd broke through the doors, or broke the glass
wall, but I also knew that the Detroit Police Department was there and I also felt that I needed to
be a strong presence for my election inspectors. So I said to them, “do you see DPD?,” and gave
them an expression to convey, “we are okay.” I did not know at the time that we were
overcapacity and hence additional people had been closed out of the room, but during that entire
time there was an overwhelming presence of Republican challengers in the room: still at all of
the AV tables, and gathered together chanting. The MIGOP were well over their capacity of 134
challengers in the room, even at the time that the doors were closed to additional challengers.
Perhaps the main thing at the front of my mind while I was experiencing this was, “Why are they
so full of rage?”

14.  The Republican challengers had their own attorneys who were yelling and
screaming, not acting in the way I would imagine a professional would behave. One of the
Republican attorneys—a short white woman, with her hair in a pony tail, wearing a pink blouse
with white lace from the shoulder to the wrist—was screaming at the election inspectors. The
election inspector was saying, I need space, please step back, and the attorney did not accede to
this ask. One of the election inspectors came and got me to deescalate the situation, and she
continued screaming, and she whipped her mask off of her face, and gave me a sadistic snarl. I
perceived this as a purposeful effort to direct hate against me, but I also knew that I needed to be
strong for the election inspectors relying upon me, so I stayed calm, and simply said, “You need
to put your mask back on.” Early on Election Day, a member of the logistics team had told me if
there was a problem to let him know. He gave me his number, so when that situation was
escalating, I called him, told him I needed him immediately, and gave him the section and

precinct number, and he came right away to handle it.
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15.  Dealing with all of these yelling Republican challengers felt like the lynch mob
that you see in history. They were snarling. It was notable that the Republican challengers were
almost entirely white, and they had come down to Detroit and treated us in this fashion. They
were ill-prepared and ill-informed about the process themselves, but were behaving with the
assumption that the people of Detroit do not know what they are doing. I think we kept everyone
working as they should and focused on their tasks, even in the face of this behavior. I think that
they underestimated us. Quite a few of us in the counting board were with the Divine Nine—the
historically Black fraternities and sororities—we are educated people who are committed to the
process and making sure the vote of the community is not suppressed.

I swear under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. Executed on

November (S, 2020
Sworn to before me before me this {5 _S day of November, 2020 at {1 i’ \\ eatd
Notary Public

My Commission expireson: / & — oy A ZZ

ROBCOE L THOMAS
Noxmwauc smsom
GOUNTY OF

mmms.zozf
Acn;\;@ummm
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AFFIDAVIT OF PATRICIA DEWALD

I, Patricia Dewald, being of full age, on my oath, deposes and says:

1. My name is Patricia Dewald. I am a registered voter and I live in Royal Oak. I
am a fundraising strategist for non-profit clients based in Detroit.

2. On Wednesday, November 4, 2020, I served as a credentialed challenger for the
Michigan Democratic Party at the Absentee Voter Counting Boards in Detroit at the TCF Center.
I arrived a bit before 8:00 a.m., and left after midnight: around 12:30 a.m. on November 5. I saw
a post in the Detroit Women’s Leadership Network calling for volunteers.

3. Right when I arrived, Republican challengers probably outweighed Democratic
challengers by about 3:1. As the morning progressed, more Democratic challengers arrived, and
so it was roughly even. Democratic challengers had on green stickers, and Republican
challengers had long white papers hanging on lanyards.

4. Throughout the morning, a Republican challenger stood right by my side the
entire time. His name was Patrick, he was a white man, with blue eyes and dark hair, he was
about 5°6” with a slight build. He self-identified as a Republican to me and indicated that he was
involved with the Macomb County GOP. He had brought his gun into the TCF Center, but that
was not permitted, so he had to go back out and put it in his car. He left to go do that, and I can
only assume he actually did leave it in the car. In the early afternoon, a Republican was
challenging a vote at a nearby table, and Patrick took out his phone to video record. When he
was told that he was not permitted to use cameras in the room, he began screaming and shouting.
Security came over and asked him to leave the area of that particular table because of his

disruptiveness, but he was not removed from the counting room.
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5. In the late afternoon, a Republican challenger next to me said he was challenging
a ballot, but would not provide the grounds for his challenge. This Republican challenger was a
white man with a bald head, in his late 50s, who was about 6’3" and of medium build. I
indicated that he could not challenge a ballot without having grounds for his challenge. He put
his hand in my face and pantomimed opening and closing it, in what I would describe as like a
“blah blah blah” motion, to dismiss what I had said. I repeated that challenges had to have a
basis and could not be lodged for no reason. He replied that he was a lawyer and he was
“prepared to exercise both his First and Second Amendment rights.” A friend of mine who was
stationed nearby ran to get security upon hearing that threat. Security came over and he insisted
he misspoke by saying Second Amendment, not just First Amendment, which did not seem
credible to me because he had said both of the Amendments, it was not a matter of just
misspeaking and saying Second when he actually meant First. He was initially removed from
the area, but immediately after security finished talking to him, and he came right back over to
the table I was stationed at.

6. I observed two young, white, male Republican challengers taking photographs in
the counting room, which was against the rules. One was a skinny guy, with a black shirt with a
heart pattern on it, and wearing a baseball hat. He came over when the gentlemen I described in
the preceding paragraph began shouting and asked what happened. I said what happened, and he
said dismissively, it doesn’t sound like you were threatened. He was taking pictures and was
asked repeatedly by security to stop. The other of these two challengers I observed taking
pictures was wearing a black jacket and a black hat. There was a batch entered with the place

holder date of 1/1/1900, which the guy in the heart pattern shirt took pictures of on the monitor.
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I later saw a picture that appeared to be what he had taken photos of on Instagram with the
caption, “Somebody needs to be executed.”

7. Another young, white, male Republican challenger was holding a print out that
was apparently part of his training, that indicated spots 1-5, and he was attempting to challenge
what each of the election inspectors was doing as their job. He got in the face of one of the
election inspectors, quite close up, demanding to be told what he was doing and what his name
was. All of the challengers had been told not to speak with the election inspectors except as to
lodge challenges, but to ask questions from the election official supervisors, so this behavior
struck me as particularly inappropriate.

8. Everything happening in the room was visible to the challengers. In my
observation, if someone indicated that they wanted to challenge something, the workers were
sure to let them see and documented it as required in the Electronic Poll Book. The process of
the counting of absentee ballots was pretty amazing to observe the diligence of all the election
inspectors doing their jobs in order to get the ballots counted. They would do the processing,
verify that ballots were eligible, and ready them to send to the tabulators to be counted.

9. I repeatedly observed Republican challengers getting in the faces of the election
inspectors, without any valid complaint or challenge. There were multiple times that I observed
between 4 to 6 Republican challengers around one AVCB table, when there was only one
permitted.

10. There were three young women with clip boards who appeared to be directing the
Republican challengers. I thought of them as Republican organizers as opposed to challengers.
One of these women, appeared to be Asian and in her early 30s, came up to me and asked me

who [ was and where my credentials were. I had the identifiable green dot sticker on me, and
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even though I felt as though she wasn’t entitled to the information, I told her my name and that I
was with the Democratic Party and showed her my Democratic Party Challenger credentials.
With that, she went over to a small group of Republicans and were chatting and repeatedly
looking back at me. I do not know to what end. The other two organizers both appeared to be
around 30 and were white females; one with dark hair pulled into a top knot and glasses, and the
other with strawberry blonde hair and glasses. They all appeared to be directing the other
Republican challengers in what they should do. The woman with strawberry blonde hair kept
looking in the problem ballot bin. Very few ballots even ended up in the problem ballot bin, but
that is where the workers put ballots that had some problem to the side to be dealt with later.

11.  Atone point, [ walked over to the tabulating area, and happened to walk past a
Republican challenger—a middle aged white woman with blonde hair and wearing a plaid
jacket—she was loitering closely next to an election inspector—a Black woman, wearing a white
blouse with hearts on it—and I heard the inspector say, “I see you.” Right after I passed by, the
white woman Republican challenger began screaming and yelling that the woman threatened to
kill her.

12.  In the mid-afternoon, my husband texted me to see if | was alright and said he
heard that challengers were not being let in. However, there were more than enough challengers
from both sides in the room at that time, and it would have made sense to me that they were not
letting more people in because the room was full. Another friend of mine had been planning on
coming back to the AVCB, but she didn’t because the Democratic Party contacts told her that
she didn’t need to come back because the room was full and more people weren’t being let in.

13.  In the later afternoon, the crowd outside had grown, and then they began banging

on the glass walls / internal windows. This was so loud, and I could physically feel it in my
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AFFIDAVIT OF KHALILLAH BURT GASTON
I, Khalilah Burt Gaston, being of full age, on my oath, deposes and says:

I. My name is Khalilah Burt Gaston. I live and am a registered voter in the City of
Detroit. I own a consulting company that is also located in Detroit.

2. On Wednesday, November 4, 2020, I went to the TCF Center to be a credentialed
challenger for the Michigan Democratic Party at the Absentee Voter Counting Boards (AVCB)
in my city. I first heard about the need for challengers at TCF during the counting later on
Tuesday night in a post on Facebook, so I called the non-partisan number on the post I saw, but
they were full. The next morning, I had received an email from Andy Levin that indicated the
Democratic Party also needed challengers, so I responded to that e-mail and got myself down to
TCF.

3. At the TCF Center, I had parked on the roof, and then came down to the first
level, where I attended a training. After the training, we lined up to enter the counting room, and
checked in, showing our ID, signing in, indicating what organization we were with and having a
temperature check. It was approximately 9:45 a.m. when I entered the counting room. I had
never served as a challenger before, so initially I did not know what all was going on and I had to
get my bearings about me. I was assigned to walk up and down the rows between tables, with
another Democratic challenger who was my partner for that part of the day. We were in the rows
around AV#45. When I began walking in the rows, that is when I began to see Republican
challengers. The Democratic challengers had green stickers; the Republicans had lanyards on
with a long, white, non-laminated tag, that I think said MIGOP. A lot of the Republican
challengers were turning their credentials over or sticking them inside their shirts. It appeared to

me that they wanted to hide the content of the credential.
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4. After the first 30 minutes or so, I observed a real shift in the energy and dynamic
of the room. The Republican challengers started harassing the election inspectors. I observed
Republican challengers quite literally inches away from the election inspectors, repeatedly
asking questions, asserting that the folks were not doing their jobs correctly. The supervisor
election inspector had explained to all of the challengers in the row about the chain of command
of the election workers, not to approach individual inspectors, to approach the chief inspector
with questions or objections to the process.

5. Between 11:00-11:30 a.m., I observed a group of 4-6 Republican challengers
hovering around an election inspector. The challengers were directed to look on the monitor
where all of the information about a ballot would be displayed. One of these Republican
challengers would not pull his mask up properly even when he was standing right over the
elections inspectors. This challenger was a white male with reddish brown hair that was longer
and swooped over sort of blocking one eye; he was wearing an NSYNC t-shirt, with a white long
sleeve underneath the NSYNC tee, dark blue jeans, and black Chuck Taylor sneakers. The
election inspectors needed to do a ballot duplication because one of the ballots was sticky so it
would not scan through the tabulator. He was looming directly over her, but she continued to do
her work. I asked him to put his mask up, but he refused, so I told the supervisor, who also
asked him to put his mask up. He asked other Republican challengers to come over and he was
irate. His face was red and his neck was bulging. The other Republican challengers told him
that he needed to take a walk and calm down and they replaced him with another challenger at
the table: a young white woman, with a long blonde ponytail, Sperry quarter height boots, a
three-quarter length Michael Kors coat, and blue jeans. The tone of the male Republican

challenger was the tone in the room until probably around 6:00 p.m.
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6. I observed another Republican challenger try to reach out and touch a ballot. This
was an older, white gentleman with shorter hair, approximately in his 50s-60s, wearing a green-
ish sweater, blue jeans, work boots, glasses, and had a buff with a hunting print on it for use as
his mask.

7. It appeared as though when Republican challengers were corrected for their
inappropriate behavior, like those I’ve just described, they seemed to get even more aggressive
and pushier with the election workers and with challengers from other groups. I observed it
becoming much more volatile as it progressed into the afternoon.

8. I observed another Republican challenger—an older white woman, perhaps in her
60s, with brown hair a bit longer than a bob, wearing a blue Polo sweater with a black jacket
over it, blue jeans, and had glasses that were sometimes up and sometimes hanging from a chain
around her neck—she was going up to each individual election inspector and then began
screaming at the top of her lungs that she was challenging all of the ballots at the table. I told her
not to approach the election inspectors directly, but to go to the supervisor. She continued
yelling, so I went and got the chief inspector, who again informed this challenger that she cannot
be speaking to the line level inspectors.

0. Repeatedly over the course of the next several hours, I heard Republican
challengers questioning the competence and intelligence of the election inspectors directly to
them. Election inspectors would flag me down so that I could get a chief inspector to come deal
with the way in which the Republican challengers were behaving. I directly observed
Republican challengers talking about asserting their “Second Amendment rights.” One of these
Republican challengers talking about asserting his “Second Amendment rights” was a very tall

guy, 6°3” or 6’4”, white, dark brown hair, glasses, wearing a bright Maize and Blue Michigan
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sweatshirt with the big block letter “M” on it, and dark blue jeans. At this, probably around 3 or
4 p.m., I began to report the Republican challengers to the police: for talking about their “Second
Amendment” rights to the election inspectors in a manner I found threatening, for not keeping
their masks up properly on their faces, and that they could not encircle individual election
inspectors with multiple challengers.

10. I was there (around AV#46/47) when they were assigning the military ballots to
be processed. Both Democratic and Republican election inspectors were going line by line down
the front and back of each of those ballots. When they heard that election inspectors were
duplicating a ballot, the Republican challengers seemed to lose it. It appeared to me that they
thought the workers were making two ballots to be counted. They did not seem to understand
that the workers would “duplicate” a ballot because the first one could not be tabulated, and they
were not making two ballots to be counted, but were transcribing the voters’ choices from the
ballot that would not scan onto the ballot that would scan. I observed the election inspector
supervisor explain this entire process to all of the challengers. It seemed to me as though the
Republican challengers were confused by the terminology.

11.  When we heard the military ballots were being processed, the elections officials
would call precincts up to get their ballots, and 2-3 Republican challengers would follow the
election inspectors and verbally accost them on their way back to the precinct table. Because of
this, the Democratic challengers started accompanying them as well, so the election inspector
was not left alone with the Republican challenger. Because we were then walking with elections
inspectors and Republican challengers, I ended up on the opposite side of the room from where I
had been earlier. I observed two white, female, Republican challengers, who the inspectors

reported to their supervisors has been filming them at the counting table. These Republican
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challengers were both in their mid-40s to early 50s and brunette. One was about 5’8 wearing a
long sweater; the other was petite, had her hair in a pony tail and wearing a puffier coat. When
asked by the supervisor whether they were filming, the challengers said that they were not
filming or taking pictures and the light was coming on their phones because that is what happens
when they received a phone call. I was skeptical of this, but did not push it. The more petite
woman told the other woman to challenge every ballot and that was all she needed to say. It was
my understanding that you had to have a specific challenge to a given ballot and that they needed
to say why they were challenging someone’s ballot. Even before ballots were being picked up
and processed, these challengers said they were challenging all the ballots at the table.

12. In the mid to later afternoon, I started getting text messages from family and
friends asking me if [ was okay; they told me that on the news it was saying there was a crowd
outside, so I went toward the entrance to observe, and saw the window starting to shake. I knew
some of the folks working the tables at the front and I spoke to Sommer Woods who was visibly
shaken and actually had cried. People were trying to push their way into the room, and she was
really frustrated with people screaming, hollering, and saying a lot of derogatory things to her
and the team. I observed banging on the door, people trying to push the door open; I saw a man
climbing up on the windows on the outside. Initially, the police were not engaging with this as
all, just the election workers had to deal with it. I observed election inspectors putting up
cardboard on the windows because people in the crowd outside were filming into the room.
When I had taken a restroom break earlier in the day, Republican challengers filmed me walking
to and going into the restroom.

13.  While the ruckus was going on, two Republican challengers were doing an

interview in the room screaming about how they weren’t let in, but they were literally in the
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AFFIDAVIT OF EMILY HARRIS

I, Emily Harris, being of full age, on my oath, deposes and says:

1. My name is Emily Harris. I am a 3L law student at the University of Michigan
Law School. I am a registered voter and I live in Ann Arbor, Michigan.

2. I was a non-partisan challenger at the Detroit Absent Voter Counting Boards
(AVCB), located in the TCF Center, on the day after the election when processing and counting
ballots was still underway. I had challenger credentials from the Lawyers’ Committee for Civil
Rights (LCCR).

3. I learned that more non-partisan challengers were needed at the AVCB, via a post
from another law student on our law school listserv. There were a group of law students that |
knew who were already at the TCF Center, so I headed to Detroit to meet them and join up as a
non-partisan challenger.

4. On Wednesday, November 4, 2020, I arrived at the TCF Center at approximately
2:30 p.m. When I arrived, there was a large crowd of people outside, but they were not letting
them enter the building. I noticed that people with credentials were going to the front of the
group, and asking a person standing there, who seemed to be in charge, if they could enter. I was
able to move to the front of the crowd and was allowed in the building (into the vestibule area)
because I told them I was with the Lawyer’s Committee and showed them my challenger
credentials from the LCCR.

5. At that point, once I was in the building, they were not letting anyone into the
actual room where ballot counting and processing was occurring. At that point, the crowd was
getting a bit upset. I spoke to a man who told me he was from the Michigan Democratic Party,

and he explained to me that they were not letting anyone from any of the challenger
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organizations (whether Republican, Democratic, or non-partisan) into the room because it was at
capacity. He expressed frustration that people were getting upset. He told me that there were
other members of the Michigan Democratic Party waiting near the vestibule area.

6. As time passed, people were getting more heated about not being permitted into
the room, particularly as press were still being allowed to enter. A woman came out and
informed everyone that there were still too many people in to room and that both the Republican
and Democratic Party challengers were over their allotment, so they were not letting any partisan
challengers into the room, but that they did have room for some non-partisan challengers.
People were yelling at her, not letting her finish talking, and in my view, were not being kind or
respectful at all.

7. Some of the congregated people got very rowdy and were very upset in response
to the woman speaking.

8. After a little time had passed another man, who I believe was overseeing
challengers, stated that they were not able to admit any additional people at this time, because
they were over capacity. Another individual, who may have been an elections official
subsequently came outside and explained that there were people from both parties in the room
and that they could not let more people inside.

9. People in the vestibule seemed to become more heated when they were given
information from the officials. It appeared that particular people were leading the charge. There
was a man who often would not would not be covering his face properly with his mask, and was
goading on the group, leading them in loud recitations of the Pledge of Allegiance and the Hail
Mary. He was a middle-aged white man with dark brown hair, wearing a black shirt, glasses,

and scruffy-looking facial hair. I noticed people who were very upset and rowdy taking videos,
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talking about how this was voter suppression. Although I am not sure which party everyone was
affiliated with, it seemed that some Republican challengers were upset that they were not being
allowed inside. I said to people in the crowd that [ was a non-partisan challenger and was not
being let in either. People did not really respond when I said this. In addition, people in the
crowd seemed very upset that the press were being let in. One person said that because they
were letting press inside, the room could not be at capacity.

10. The middle-age white man wearing the black shirt then left the vestibule area and
got other people to go with him, and I think they went to the left of the vestibule.

11. They began to let some non-partisan challengers into the room in groups of 6
people. When two groups of 6 non-partisans had been permitted in the room, the man that had
led a group of people away (described above in § 9) came back leading a larger group of people
and began the “stop the count” chanting and pounding on the windows. I was in the next group
of 6 that were going to be let in so [ was quite close to the front when this happened. This all
was extremely loud and disruptive, and the glass appeared to be shaking from the outside.
Because of this disruption, they paused on letting people in the room in groups of 6. The police
had to come out and stood around the windows to prevent the banging from continuing. While I
was out in the vestibule, I spoke with multiple people who were also prevented from entering
who were also not Republican challengers. For most of the time, I was with three women
attorneys who had LLCR credentials.

12. Around or slightly after 5:00 p.m., they began letting people in the room, and I
entered the AVCB. While [ was in the counting room, I later saw some of the people who

engaged in the disruption were now in the counting room as challengers. This included both the
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AFFIDAVIT OF DIANE HUTCHERSON

I, Diane Hutcherson, being of full age, on my oath, deposes and says:

I.. My name is Diane Hutcherson. I am a registered voter and I live in the City of
Detroit. Iworked as an Election Inspector for the Team A shift at the Absent Voter Counting
Boards at the TCF Center on Monday, November 2, 2020, and Election Day, November 3, 2020,
through the early morning hours of November 4,

2. I worked at AV#21, in the number three position of five election inspectors. I had
to make sure that the voted absentee ballots were in their secrecy sleeve. If anyone on the five-
petson team had a question or problem, we would raise a red flag that we had at the table to call
over one of the supervisors for our section.

3. On Monday, November 2, our shift began at 8:00 a.m., and we were only
processing, not yet counting absentee ballots. We were processing the ballots, so that when the
Team B shift began their work on Election Day, they could turn initially to counting ballots.

4. All of the Republican challengers seemed to arrive at once on Monday. The
Republican challenger at our table on Monday—a middle-aged white man—would sit or stand
immediately next to us at the table. He came right up behind myself and the other election
inspectors on my team. Consistently, his mask would not be pulled up over his nose; people
would say something to correct him, and he would respond pulling it up, but would pull it back
below his nose shortly thereafter. Itold him once, “you are not supposed to be this close; you
need to back away from me.”

5. The Republican challengers also badgered us with a lot of questions, but they
were not supposed to be asking us questions about the process. Questions were supposed to be

directed to the supervisors or team leaders.
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6. On Monday, [ observed way more Republican challengers than Democratic
challengers. Ithought at some point that there were only Republican challengers there on that
~ first day, as almost every person I saw looking on was wearing a tag that said MIGOP.

7. On Tuesday, I arrived into the counting room around 10:00 p.m. Quite often
there was more than one Republican challenger at each of our tables, even though the rule was
only one from each political party at any particular table. At every table that I could see, there
was at least one, if not more, Republican challengers present, observing, and often disrupting. It
is a lie if they say that they couldn’t view the process.

8. The voting process to me is sacred. The majority of the Republican challengers T
saw were white, and many older white men. It felt very intrusive to have them pacing around,
and the only way I could describe it was that I felt like we were on a plantation with the
Repubilican challengers as overseers; theirs was an atmosphere of attempted intimidation, pacing
around, leaning in to us. It felt like, “what were we supposed to do to please them?” All we
were doing were our jobs to count votes, and we would have been doing that same thing without
them there. |

9. This experience solidified my decision to work on the election, and I will continue
to be involved in the future. Our vote in the City of Detroit is important, and I am not going to
let people from outside our community to try to prevent us from exercising that right.

I swear under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. Executed on
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AFFIDAVIT OF LOREN LEE
LOREN LEE, BEING OF FULL AGE, ON HER OATH, DEPOSES AND SAYS:

1. Tam overthe age of 21 and if sworn as a witness, I am competent to testify
about the matters set forth herein, based upon personal knowledge, except
where the matter is indicated to be based on information and belief.

2. I am currently a third-year law student at the University of Michigan.

INd 80:0T:% ¥207/01/9 DSIN 49 AIATADTY

3. I am a registered voter in Ann Arbor, Michigan.

4, On the morning of November 4, 2020, I received multiple notifications
stating that volunteers were needed to act as challengers at the TCF
because several absentee ballots were still being counted there. I arrived
with three of my friends to participate as a non-partisan challenger around
11 a.m.

5. Ireceived training and was credentialed as a non-partisan challenger for
the Lawyers Committee for Civil Rights Under Law. During my training,
I was informed that our role was to make sure that the poll workers felt
safe and that they could execute their duties with as little interference as
possible. [ was to alert a supervisor any time a poll worker raised a concern
about social distancing, ballots being challenged without good cause, or

intimidating behavior on behalf of a challenger. I was also to help ensure
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that each counting table was being watched by exactly one person per
party.

When 1 first arrived at TCF Center, the Republican challengers were
wearing lanyards with very long, white credentials which clearly stated
“GOP” on them. Democratic challengers were wearing green dots on their
shoulders and most also had “election challenger” name tags.

At around 1 pm, I saw 4 GOP challengers observing one table. Multiple
supervisors came over asking them to disperse because they were violating
social distancing rules and because they were violating the “one person per
party per table” rule. One woman was yelling at the supervisor about being
asked to disperse. They finally did so after approximately eight minutes.
At around 2 p.m., I received a notification from CNN that Donald Trump’s
campaign had filed a lawsuit alleging that Republicans were not able to
access the ballots at the TCF center, despite my observation that there were
roughly equal numbers of both Republicans and Democrats in the room.
Within minutes of my receipt of the notification, I heard a voice through
the loudspeaker calling a team meeting for the supervisors of the poll
workers. My supervisor, Blaze Kearney, also came over and called a

meeting. Blaze suspected that GOP challengers’ behavior would escalate
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10.

11.

12.

because of the lawsuit. I looked around and saw the GOP challengers
talking in a group in the corner.

Shortly after this, I heard many people say that the TCF center was “on
CNN.” People were outside chanting “Stop the Count.” They were
aggressively pounding on the windows. I was in the back of the room,
away from the windows, but I was still frightened because the people
yelling and pounding on the windows were so loud and angry.

Either building security or the police department (I am not sure which)
went into the lobby and placed themselves between the glass and the
people yelling outside. Eventually, cardboard was placed over the
windows.

Around 3 p.m., I noticed that some GOP challengers had removed their
credentials. Because part of my role was to ensure that there was only one
person per party at a table, I had to ask people who had removed their
credentials what their affiliation was. They either lied and stated that they
were nonpartisan, or they were rude and told me that it was “none of my
business.” However, I recognized these people as GOP challengers
because I had been at the TCF Center since 11 a.m., and they had all

previously been wearing GOP credentials.
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13.

14.

I remember one GOP challenger in particular. She was a white woman
with dark hair and glasses, and she was wearing black leggings, black Ugg
boots, and a long-sleeved burgundy shirt with white lace on the sleeves.
Whenever there was a challenge, she got involved even if it was not at her
table. She was extremely aggressive and even put her hand in my face
when I tried to remind her that there was only supposed to be one person
per party at each table. She claimed that she was an attorney, and that
because of this, she was entitled to be involved in every challenge
regardless of whether she was the Republican challenger at the table or not.
She refused to provide her name or a P number to confirm this statement.
From 3:05 p.m. to 4:12 p.m., GOP challengers challenged every single
ballot on the basis of “pending litigation” at the table I was observing. We
kept explaining that the lawsuit was not good cause to challenge individual
ballots. Eight GOP challengers came over and surrounded the >tab1e.
Eventually, the lead supervisor came over and said that they would be
removed if they did not disperse. They dispersed, but the original
challenger at the table wrote down every ballot number from that point
forward and said she was challenging all of them, even once she stopped

verbally doing so.
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AFFIDAVIT OF LESLIE LOTT

LESLIE LOTT, BEING OF FULL AGE, ON HER OATH, DEPOSES AND

SAYS:
1.

I am over the age of 21 and if sworn as a witness, I am competent to
testify about the matters set forth herein, based upon personal knowledge,
except where the matter is indicated to be based on information and
belief.

I am a registered voter in Detroit, Michigan.

I am an attorney and have volunteered as a Democratic challenger for the
last three elections.

I served as a Democratic challenger at the TCF center on November 4,
2020. I was there from 9 a.m. until about 7 p.m. My understanding of my
role was to ensure that election law was being followed by the
challengers in the room and the election workers.

The table that I was monitoring seemed to be used as a training table for
Republican challengers. It was clear to me that the Republican
challengers had not been trained on their roles. One Republican
challenger kept trying to talk to the election workers. I reminded her that
she needed to talk to a supervisor and that she could not speak to the

election workers directly. At one point, she attempted to challenge a
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ballot, but could not articulate what her challenge was. Another
Republican challenger came over and tried to coach her. I asked him to
step back because of the rule that there could only be one person per
party at each table. He responded, “Litigation has been filed.” [ asked
him if that was his formal challenge, and he replied that it was. I then
asked him “What election law is being violated with regard to this
particular ballot?” He did not answer. A challenge was entered, but |
asked for a note from me to be entered as well, stating that he had not
articulated a violation of election law, and that there was no legal merit to
his challenge.

Another Republican challenger was making repeated frivolous
challenges, so I asked that she be removed. A supervisor came over and
talked to everyone and reminded them of their roles. It turned out that
this particular challenger was making challenges based on the fact that
she did not understand the process.

Republican challengers who were identifying themselves as lawyers kept
coming to our table to coach the Republican challengers who were there.
I asked them if they represented the challengers in their individual

capacities or whether they were replacing the challengers. One of the
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Republican lawyers walked away when I asked this question, but not
before I heard her say to the challenger, “‘Challenge every vote.”
Republican challengers repeatedly violated the “one person per party at a
table” rule. At one point, there were at least three Republican challengers
by the table and three more who were from the Election Integrity Fund.
They were able to stop counting at the table with frivolous challenges for
twenty-five minutes. Someone from the Detroit Department of Elections
came to the table and told the election workers that they should begin
counting again.

Around 4:11 p.m., a Republican challenger made a challenge stating that
“there were ballots left in the box after the box came back from the
tabulator.” The election worker opened the box to show that no ballots
were in it, and denied the challenge. I logged another challenge stating
that the Republican challenge had no legal merit and was being used to
intimidate the election workers and delay the counting process. After
this, the Republican challenger made no more formal challenges, but sat
in front of the monitor at the corner of the table writing down every
single ballot number for two hours.

*SIGNATURE FOLLOWS ON THE NEXT PAGE*

Ex A_000065

INd 80:0T:% ¥207/01/9 DSIN 49 AIATADTY



RECEIVED by MSC 6/10/2024 4:20:08 PM

Ex A_000066



AFFIDAVIT OF RACHEL LUTZ

I, Rachel Lutz, being of full age, on my oath, deposes and says:

I. My name is Rachel Lutz. I am a long time Detroit resident and registered voter. |
am a fourth-generation small business owner in the City.

2. I volunteered at the Absent Voter Counting Board at the TCF Center in the early
morning hours of November 4, 2020 (from 12:15 a.m. to 3:30 a.m.). I was a credentialed
challenger from the Lawyers’ Committee for Civil Rights Under Law. A friend had called me
late on Election Night and said that observers were needed at TCF.

3. When I arrived, I showed my credentials and my ID to be checked into the room.
In the room appeared to be Republican challengers and either Democratic or non-partisan
challengers, but Republican challengers were definitely in the majority. Most of the non-partisan
challengers appeared to have just arrived because we were huddled in the corner training. I
could tell who the Republican challengers were because they had long credentials that said
MIGOP. And even for folks who were not wearing that specific credential, you could tell who
was affiliated with them because they would be clustering together, meeting, and talking.
Throughout the progression of the night, I could tell by observing interactions who was from
which organization. One of the main things that I observed in these overnight hours, was that
there was a buzz in the room in anticipation of a large batch of military ballots that were
expected to arrive and that sixty Republican challengers were on their way to TCF, in
anticipation of those ballots arriving.

4. I happen to know a lot of people who were working counting ballots because I am
Detroit resident and so are they, and many are active in community causes. Numerous

individuals I know from around the City spoke to me, and all voiced discomfort with the racial
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dynamic and other intimidating factors in the room: probably 95% of the workers were Black
and almost all of the Republican challengers were white. One of my friends told me that before
the non-partisan challengers arrived, she felt the atmosphere was a “free for all” because the
Republican challengers were not following the rules and no one was holding them accountable.
Another friend, a Black woman, who was serving as an election inspector, summed up the
feeling of multiple folks I heard from by describing it as an “overseer vibe.” I happen to work in
the fashion industry, and I noticed a number of the Republican challengers were older white men
wearing, what [ would call, “plantation style hats.” It is not typical to be wearing a light-colored
summer-style hat in November in Michigan. I personally felt uncomfortable with the dynamic,
and multiple people I know from the community felt as if the challenges were purposely trying to
intimidate them. Altogether, the presence and the attitude given off by the Republican
challengers—as if they knew better than the people who were actually trained and working the
process—felt insulting to the City of Detroit and its people. When reminded of the rules, many
of the Republican challengers argued as if they were entitled to behave how they wanted to
behave, independent of the established rules.

5. I consistently observed multiple Republican challengers gathering at one AV
table, even though the rule was only one challenger per party at an AV table. Throughout the
period I was there, pretty consistent rule breaking I observed from the Republican challengers
included: (1) not providing appropriate space, as Michigan is spiking with COVID, and
(2) clustering around tables. Once, a Republican challenger—a white man in his 20s wearing a
cranberry sweater—was super close, I mean, within inches of an election worker and there was a
heated discussion between them. I tried to defuse the situation; I asked the challenger to respect

the need for distance and he became extremely heated. He started yelling, “challenge,
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challenge,” without specifying what he was challenging. He abruptly left to talk to a group of
Republican challengers on the other side of the room and then 6 to 8 of them came to swarm the
table.

6. My primary focus was to keep workers protected; if [ saw anyone standing within
inches of the counters (though, in truth, the only people I saw doing this were Republican
challengers), I would say, verbatim, “Just a gentle reminder, please give the workers 6 feet for
their protection.” Usually people would step back while I was still standing there, but as I was
circulating around the room, when I would come back by minutes later, they would be right back
where they had been before they stepped back, and so I would say, “This is your second
reminder, please give the workers 6 feet for their protection,” and then “third reminder,” and so
on. I would suggest that they go talk to the organization that brought them there to help them
understand the process better and learn the rules. If they were not actually challenging a ballot,
they should not have been speaking to the workers or stepping in closer. In my view, it appeared
that the Republican challengers were poorly trained; they did not seem to understand the rules or
how challenges were actually permitted under the law. I respect and appreciate a challenger’s
right to be in that room to observe a fair and legal process. I honestly want people from all sides
to be there, but we all need to follow the rules. And nearly consistently, Republican challengers
appeared to get very agitated when they had to abide by the rules.

7. My observation of the actual counting process was that the workers were very
focused on their jobs, very meticulous in each carrying out the step that they were supposed to in
the process. That was consistent across all of the AV tables. The supervisors were identifiable

in their embroidered shirts and were all very engaged with what was happening at their particular
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AFFIDAVIT OF DAN MCKERNAN

I, Dan McKeman, being of full age, on my oath, deposes and says:

1. My name is Dan McKernan. Iam a registered voter and I live in Grosse Pointe
Woods, Michigan. [ work for the International Union of Operating Engineers, Local 324.

2. After the AFL-CIO sent out notifications that parties and organizations were
looking for poll watchers and challengers for the November 3 General Election, I decided to sign
up as a Democratic poll challenger.

3. I served as a Democratic challenger at the TCF Center in the absentee ballot
counting area from about 11 am to 5 pm on Wednesday, November 4, 2020.

4. After I arrived at the TCF Center, | underwent a short training with other
Democratic challengers, and then went to sign-in. At the time I signed in, they were only letting
a certain number of people in at a time to make sure the numbers were manageable.

5. Once inside, [ was impressed with the organization and transparency of the
counting process. There were dozens of multi-table set-ups. Every table had a large monitor at
the corner of the table. It was easy to watch poll workers scan each ballot, see the name of the
voter, and watch the whole counting process. The poll workers seemed diligent and focused on
their jobs.

6. When I first arrived, the atmosphere seemed pretty calm. Each table allowed and
has a Democratic and Republican challenger as well as so-called non-partisan challengers who
appeared to be coordinating with the Republican challengers. There was a supervisor circulating,
making sure everyone’s badge was displayed and that there was not more than one Democrat or
Republican at each table at a time. There were more Democratic and Republican observers in the

TCF Center than tables, so a number stood back and rotated in periodically.
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7. Despite the relative calm in the later morning and early afternoon, there were a
few incidents I observed and for which I signed incident reports. These involved Republican
challengers being disrespectful to poll workers, leaning over their shoulders, breathing down
their necks, shouting about not seeing where ballot came from despite everyone’s clear view, and
yelling and insulting the poll workers.

8. The atmosphere changed dramatically around 2 PM, which I later learned was
when the Republicans had filed a lawsuit to stop the count. This was also around the point in
time when an announcement was made that military ballots were going to be counted but that
they could not be run through the machine and so they would need to be copied onto other
ballots but everyone would be able to view the process. It was around this time that the
Republican challengers huddled on one side of the room and appeared to be formulating a new
strategy.

0. After the Republican huddle, the observers began to fan out around the room.
They seemed suddenly much more aggressive with poll workers and began employing stalling
and delay tactics. One Republican challenger took his mask off by the ballot machines and made
a scene when he was asked to put it back on and the count paused while he was escorted out.
Then another Republican challenger engaged in the same tactic.

10. At this point, Republicans were challenging everything at the two tables I could
see. When the ballot envelope was opened, they would say they couldn’t see it clearly. When the
next envelope was opened, they made the same complaint. They were objecting to every single
step down the line for no good reason. At this point, these were all military ballots. When the
Republican challenger interfered enough with the process, a poll supervisor would tell the

challenger they were obstructing, and the Republicans would rotate someone else into the table.
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11. I also observed a woman serving as a Republican challenger reading the names
and addresses of voters into her phone. After I raised my hand to flag this for supervisors, they
approached her and instructed her to put her phone down.

12. One of the most shocking things I observed was when [ was standing next to a
group of seven or so Republican poll challengers. They may have believed I was one of them
because they were talking loudly enough that it was easy for me to understand what was
happened. One of them, who appeared to be the leader of the group—a young, tall, clean-cut
man who reminded me of Jared Kushner—instructed the others that they were going to count the
military ballots, and they would have to challenge every address because they couldn’t let those
ballots get counted.

13.  During this same period, the lobby began to fill up with people shouting,
chanting, and banging on windows. It was obvious the poll workers were becoming
uncomfortable with this situation. Some people started covering some of the windows so the poll
workers didn’t feel as intimidated and could focus on counting. It was obvious the tactic of the
crowd outside was to delay the vote counting as much as possible because every table still had a
Republican and Democratic challenger so there was no access or observation issue for either
party. Although the room was locked by 3:30 pm, this was merely because the room was
completely full and there were already observers a every table and more waiting in the wings.

14. Between 3 and 4 pm, there was a large chanting crowd outside the doors, and a
door temporarily opened, and a bunch of people charged in demanding to oversee the process
even though room already had Republican challengers at every table. There were maybe about
20 of these people that got in and were yelling. The police had to come in to deal with the

situation. A few other challengers and me felt like we needed to stand there to physically protect

Ex A_000073

INd 80:0T:% ¥207/01/9 DSIN 49 AIATADTY



RECEIVED by MSC 6/10/2024 4:20:08 PM

Ex A_000074



AFFIDAVIT OF JEN MCKERNAN

I, Jen McKernan, being of full age, on my oath, deposes and says:

1. My name is Jen McKernan. I am a registered voter and I live in Grosse Pointe
Woods, Michigan. I work for the Michigan Regional Council of Carpenters & Millwrights.

2. I recently served as a Democratic poll challenger for the November 3, 2020
General Election. During the day on Election Day, I served as a challenger at a polling place in
Detroit. Following my shift, I was notified more Democratic challengers were needed at the TCF
Center and I decided to go down there.

3. I served as a Democratic challenger at the TCF Center for approximately 5 hours,
from about 11 pm on Tuesday, November 3, through 4 am on Wednesday, November 4.

4. After undergoing training along with other Democratic challengers, I signed-in
and entered the ballot counting area. While I was there, the area was completely open and I was
able to easily observe the entire ballot counting process as were all the other challengers there.
The ballots came to the table, the poll workers opened the envelopes, took off the tabs, and
counted the ballots. It was all very straightforward and easy to observe, very much like an
assembly-line process. Each ballot was also recorded such that the information appeared on an
easily observable computer screen on the edge of a table. The counting process was profoundly
boring, as it should be.

5. There were other tables of mismarked ballots, often those that were marked with
check marks or the like rather than filling in the circles. For these, they were likewise transcribed
correctly onto new forms so they could be processed. This process was also open and easy to

observe.
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6. During the period I was at the TCF Center, there were tons of challengers,
including Republican challengers. When I arrived, there were probably more Republican
challengers than Democratic challengers. The Republican Challengers were easy to identify
because they wore long white lanyards that said “MIGOP” on them had a GOP logo. By 2 am,
the TCF Center was full of people. If any challenger claims they were unable to get in on
Tuesday night, I cannot believe that is true as they seemed to be letting lots of people in.

7. While not true of all Republican challengers, a number of them that I observed
were obstructionist and interfering with the counting process. I observed some strategizing to
create problems rather than to preserve an accurate ballot count.

8. One particular example stands out to me. At a table with a poll worker
transcribing mismarked ballots onto a new form, a young man serving as a Republican
challenger loomed over her, making remarks to her the entire time even though challengers were
not supposed to speak directly to the ballot counters, and interrupting her when she tried to
respond. No matter how many times he was asked to stand back, he persisted and was clearly
upsetting her. She eventually made a mistake, likely because he frazzled her, and she
acknowledged the mistake and sought to fix the issue. But he continued to harass her and delay
the process before he was eventually asked to move back to a six-foot observation distance. His
conduct suggested his intent was to harass and delay.

9. I also observed a number of Republican challengers not practicing social
distancing despite the ability to observe each aspect of the ballot being called up on the computer
screen at the edge of each table.

10. I also understand some people have made complaints about overhead

announcements disputing the process. That was not my experience. I heard maybe two overheard
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AFFIDAVIT OF HEATHER MOURER

I, Heather Mourer, being of full age, on my oath, deposes and says:

1. My name is Heather Mourer. I am a registered voter and resident of Highland
Park. I am a community herbalist serving Detroit, Hamtramck, and Highland Park, and work in
Donor Relations at Wayne State University.

2. On November 4, I was a credentialed challenger for the Michigan Democratic
Party at the Detroit Absent Voter Counting Board at the TCF Center. I first found out about the
need for challengers in a post on the Detroit Women’s Leadership Network, and then on
Wednesday morning, I saw a lot of friends posting the same on Facebook, so I headed to TCF.

3. I arrived at TCF around 9:30 a.m., and went into the counting room a little before
11:00 a.m. after going through a training. I signed in, showed my ID, showed my credentials,
and had a temperature check. When I came into the counting room, there were both Republican
challengers and Democratic challengers. Initially, there were more Republican challengers in the
room; | observed this because I was looking for an AV table without a Democratic challenger,
and I was walking to the back, nearly all of the tables had multiple Republican challengers and
one Democratic challenger. The Republican challengers were wearing what looked like big
backstage passes for their credentials that said MIGOP. As time passed, more Democratic
challengers came because the balance in the room became even. I think I was in one of the last
groups of Democratic challengers that came into the room, because we brought it up to equal
numbers.

4. In addition to numerous counting tables having more than one Republican
challenger, I observed Republican challengers not staying at appropriate distance, touching

ballots that were being processed, and putting their hands on workers’ shoulders. I saw a number
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of Republican challengers pulling their masks down and getting in the face of the poll workers at
the table. Once I got to my counting table to observe, for the first ten minutes or so, it was just
me and one female Republican challenger, who kept asking the line workers a bunch of
questions, but after ten minutes, 6 to 8 other Republican challengers swarmed the table with her,
and I could not even see what they were challenging because they were all grouped around the
screen. One of the elections supervisors notice and came over to try and dissipate the group. A
couple of other Democratic challengers came over to witness the scene, and when the group
broke up a different one of the Democratic challengers stayed at that table, and I ended up at a
different counting table. Shortly thereafter, the same thing happened again, with 6 to 8
Republican challengers descending on the same table. The election supervisor was a woman this
time, and some of the male Republican challengers got really, really close to the supervisor and
into her personal space. I did not feel safe trying to intervene. A couple of male Democratic
challengers came over, and one of them ended up staying as the challenger at that table instead of
me. A few other supervisors came over and helped the original supervisor dissipate the crowd
and have them move to other tables.

5. At these first two tables, other than the instances I described, the Republican
challengers were going up to every single ballot, badgering the workers with questions, and
challenging each vote. It either seemed like they intentionally wanted to slow down the process
or that they did not understand what they were supposed to challenge. They kept asking
questions to poll workers about the processing, when they were supposed to direct questions to
the supervisors. There were explicit instructions not to slow down the count, so it seemed like
they didn’t know the rules — some were just slowing it, but it also seemed like some were

genuinely asking questions. [ would say some of the older Republican challengers seemed to be
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doing what they were supposed to do and like they had done this before. But I think many other
had just come down to create drama, challenge everything, ask questions.

6. At some point in the afternoon, after 1:00 p.m., one of the Democratic challengers
who had more experience told us that the military ballots would come soon, and explained the
whole process to us: that the votes would be on smaller paper, how the ballots had to be
duplicated, and that it would be a bi-partisan process duplicating them with both a Democrat and
a Republican election inspector. The more experienced Democratic challenger asked us to find a
table to observe and wait for the military ballots to be brought around. There were probably
around two hours from the instructions until the ballots were delivered. I was sitting on the floor
by my table waiting, and there a group of female Republican challengers, one of the women
explained the instructions to the group. She said, and I wrote this down because my father is a
veteran, and it just really shocked me: “They’re about to begin counting the military ballots; we
want you to challenge all of them; stop every single one.” This was completely shocking to me.

7. In the meantime, once the Democratic challengers started to become aware of the
Republican challengers plans for the military ballots, the more experienced challengers to told us
that when they challenged the ballot, we should say, “I object.” And since the Republican
challengers would not have a basis, the counters will be able to move on from the challenge.
They told us to make sure our objection to the challenge also got recorded.

8. In the mid-afternoon, I heard a commotion up front (my table was near the back
of the room). My neighbor, a pastor’s wife, was a poll worker, and someone from her church
texted her that we weren’t safe here, so she asked me if I could find out what was going on. So |
went up the front, and I first noticed that the media cameras were focused on the man who I think

was the lawyer for the Republican party. There was so much banging, and it was so loud, you
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AFFIDAVIT OF KEERTHANA NUNNA

I, Keerthana Nunna, being of full age, on my oath, deposes and says:

1. I 'am Keerthana Nunna, a third-year law student at the University of Michigan
Law School. I am a resident and a registered voter in Ann Arbor Michigan.

2. I served as a credentialed non-partisan challenger on behalf of the Lawyers’
Committee for Civil Rights (LCCR) at the City of Detroit Absent Voter Counting Boards
(AVCB), at the TCF Center, on both Election Day, Tuesday, November 3, 2020, and the day
after, Wednesday, November 4, 2020. On Election Day, I served as a non-partisan challenger
from 6:00 a.m. through 8 p.m., during the entire sequestration period. On November 4, 2020, I
check in as a non-partisan challenger at 11:12 a.m., and checked out at approximately 7:30 p.m.
I was credentialed by LCCR on both days.

3. I heard about the need for non-partisan challengers the Absent Voter Counting
Boards through another law student, who was regularly sending out updates on volunteer
opportunities around the election. I attended two training sessions prior to my work as a non-
partisan challenger. 1 believe both were conducted by the NAACP, another non-partisan
organization.

4. On Election Day, I was a challenger in what I would call one “lane” of the tables
of absentee counting boards. There was an equal number of Republican Party and Democratic
Party challengers in the lane I was in, and fewer non-partisan challengers. The Democratic Party
challengers had a green dot sticker on their back and yellow ID tags. Some Republican
challengers wore a long white credential, but I observed numerous Republican challengers not
wearing their credentials. The LCCR challengers were all wearing a badge that indicated that

they were there on behalf of Lawyers’ Committee. There were also challengers who [
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understood to be from a different non-partisan organization, the Election Integrity Fund, who
wore white badges about the size of a business card that said “Election Challenger,” but did not
say on them the sponsoring organization.

5. When we arrived on Election Day, there were already some ballots in the room
from the pre-processing that had happened the day before but which still needed to be counted as
counting had not yet begun. Periodically throughout the day, a van would drive into the room,
and deliver ballots. The ballots were in trays that were entirely inside cardboard sleeves that
covered the ballots. The deliveries would be stacked on a table in the center of the room. The
van would then leave the room, and the head election inspector for the counting board would call
out the AVCB for each set of ballots. The supervisor from each table would go and get the
ballots from this center table and bring them back to the AVCB table to be counted.

6. In the morning on Election Day, I saw the Republican challengers repeatedly
talking directly to the poll workers. It was my understanding that challengers (from any
organization) were not supposed to do that, so I would let the election official supervisor know
that was occurring. The supervisor had informed all of the challengers that if there is a problem
or question to come to him directly. I spent a fair amount of time on Tuesday needing to flag
down a supervisor because the Republican challengers were talking directly to the poll workers,
even after we had been told that we were supposed to bring issues to the supervisor.

7. At each counting table, there was a laptop the poll worker was working on the
contents of which would be duplicated on a monitor at the end of each table which could be
viewed by challengers, or by anyone in the room. The election inspector would pick up a ballot,

input the ballot number, which was read out loud, then the name associated with the ballot was
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read aloud. This would all show up on the screen-share monitor as the election inspector worked
on the laptop.

8. During the day, if the system flagged that there had been more than one ballot for
a voter, the elections workers would stop and check with the clerk’s office, who confirmed that
the original ballot had been spoiled, which is how the voter came to have a second ballot.

9. I observed three younger, white, male Republican challengers, two of whom I had
spoken with a fair amount during the day (they told me they were challengers for the Republican
Party and one of them said he had gone to the University of Michigan for undergrad), put on
their coats and backpacks and leave early at approximately 4:30 p.m., even though we were not
supposed to leave until 8:00 p.m. because we were sequestered. One of those challengers was
also the one who kept speaking directly to poll workers even after the supervisor had told him to
stop. He was white, with brown hair, in his 20s, approximately 5’4" tall, wearing a grey shirt.
He also refused to wear his credential and kept bringing over and speaking with older
Republican challengers who were wearing their identifiable credentials on lanyards. When an
election worker asked for his credential (since he was not wearing it), I observed him take a
piece of white paper out of his pocket, unfold it, and show it to the worker.

10.  Ataround 7:50 p.m., the workers thought they were done, and everyone started
standing up and getting their belongings, but a supervisor announced on the PA system that
everyone had to stay until 8:00 p.m. Everyone I observed appeared to follow this direction, and
sat back down to wait out the rest of the time until the sequestration period had ended.

11.  Ireturned to serve as a non-partisan challenger again the next day, Wednesday,
November 4. 1 arrived into the room at 11:12 a.m. (I had noted the time when I was signing in).

There were more Republican challengers on Wednesday, November 4, than there even had been
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on Election Day itself. The Republican challengers appeared to be more consistently wearing
their credentials on Wednesday than on Tuesday; I saw their long badges with GOP in block
lettering. I was also able to recognize some of the challengers based on who had been present
the previous day. In general, there were consistently many challengers in the room.
Immediately I observed that Tuesday had been a lot calmer than it was on Wednesday; I think
because people could not have their phones on Tuesday.

12.  Initially, I was observing at AV#23 and in the lane surrounding that table. There
were both Democratic and Republican challengers at the AVCB tables in my field of view. The
Republican challenger at AV#23, in the morning, a white woman, was pretty calm (compared to
some of the other behavior I observed). She just stood there in the morning and would ask some
questions, that the supervisor always answered. A different Republican challenger, a white male,
was there in the afternoon; he just stood by the monitor and wrote down every person’s name
and the time the ballot was entered into the system, and ballot number. He had said that because
a lawsuit was filed, they wanted to challenge every ballot, but he did not actually verbally
challenge any of the ballots that he was writing down the information about.

13.  Inthe afternoon, I had a friend who had come down to the TCF Center to be a
non-partisan challenger and she was stuck outside the room as well because they had stopped
letting challengers in because the room was at capacity. There was a growing crowd outside the
room, and then the people gathered outside began banging on the windows into the room.
Workers were visibly concerned, and I heard election workers talking with each other that they
were worried that the crowd was going to break the windows. At some point, I believe the police

moved folks away from the windows or calmed them down, because the banging then did stop.
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14.  Throughout the whole day, including in the afternoon when they were not letting
additional challengers into the room, there were many Republican challengers still in the room.
Throughout, they stood very close to the tables and had full access to what the poll workers were
doing.

15.  Shortly after the banging, so tensions were heightened in the room, at the AVCB
table I was at, were me, a Republican, and a Democratic challenger. Another challenger wanted
to observe as well, but the poll worker said that there could only be one of each type of
challenger. Everyone got extremely heated, and an election worker supervisor called over the
police (I do not know how the uniforms reflect the rank or office of police officers, but he was
wearing a white hat). The police officer with the white hat stayed at the table for about fifteen
minutes, and the election worker allowed the additional challenger to observe as well, so there
were four challengers at the table. That fourth challenger, once permitted to stay, just stared at
the monitor and recorded names and ballot numbers just like the Republican challenger who was
already at the table.

tha

16. I observed the duplication of ballots when either: son.'fething was wrong with the
ballot so it could not be scanned by the tabulator or the military and overseas ballots, which all
had to be duplicated. I observed one Democratic and one Republican election worker
conducting the duplications, and then a Democratic, a Republican, and a nonpartisan challenger
were all watching the process. In my observation, the Republican challengers were directly on
top of the poll workers during the duplication. When either of the challengers asked to see
something, the poll workers would just show it to them. When the military ballots were being
duplicated on Wednesday, the election workers described the process to both the Republican and

Democratic challengers before that process started.
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17.  As the crowd who had tried to force their way into the room was apparently still
outside, when I left, the police had us go around through the back door to exit. Some gentlemen
who were somehow related to the TCF Center walked me and my law school classmate to our

cars because the disruptive crowd were still outside.

I swear under penality of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. Executed on

U AN

Keerthana Nunna

November Y& 2020

Sworn to before me before me this Yh day of November, 2020 at Ann Mor .

by Kewnhfammn

Notary Public

My Commission expires on: |2 l ll, 101%

CYNTHIA KERSCHBAUM
NQTARY PUBLIC- STATE OF MICHIGAN
COUNTY OF WASHTENAW

My Commission Expires 12-21-2023
Acting in the County of ﬂ&htenm
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AFFIDAVIT OF NICOLE RITTENOUR

NICOLE RITTENOUR, BEING OF FULL AGE, ON HER OATH, DEPOSES
AND SAYS:

1.

I am over the age of 21 and if sworn as a witness, I am competent to testify
about the matters set forth herein, based upon personal knowledge, except
where the matter is indicated to be based on information and belief.

I am a registered voter in Detroit, Michigan.

I am an architect, but I worked as an Election Inspector in the City of
Detroit for the 2020 election. 1 was at the TCF Center on Tuesday,
November 3, 2020 from 5:30 a.m. to 9:00 p.m., and from 5:30 a.m. on
Wednesday, November 4, 2020 until 12:30 a.m. pm November 5, 2020.
Before my shifts, I completed a three-hour training at the TCF Center.
There were five election inspectors at each table. I was in position #1 at
my table. I was at the computer, and took unopened ballots in stacks of
25. Ileafed through them to make sure that they all had the clerk’s portion
completed. I scanned them into the electronic pollbook one by one. When
I scanned them, a name would appear on the computer. 1 would make sure
that the name and ballot numbers were the same on the computer as they
were on the envelope. The #2 person would then look at the ballot number

and make sure that it matched the pollbook. If the ballot did not match,
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the #2 person would write the correct number on the ballot, and then cover
it with a piece of white tape. I would make a specific note in the electronic
pollbook when this occurred.

There were more Republican challengers than any other organization. We
would have been diligent about our duties regardless, but I felt nervous
because they were watching us so intently, so I took extra care to be
diligent about my duties. In my opinion, the Republican challengers did
not know the process, so they did not really know what to challenge.

I participated in the ballot duplication process. We were told to try to run
every ballot through, but if they did not go through, we would duplicate
them if applicable. My supervisor was positioned in between the # 2
person and me with a blank ballot. I would give the name and number for
the old and new ballots, and then read off each section while the #2 person
filled in ovals. The supervisor watched. One challenger from each party
watched. We initialed the ballots at the top, and indicated which ballot
was a duplicate and which was an original. We would initial the ballots
and the put white tape over our initials. We would then step back from the
ballots and allow the challengers to take their time examining side by side.

I would make a specific note in the electronic pollbook when this occurred.
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Wednesday is when the Republican challengers started being rude to us.
They kept standing right over our shoulders and we had to repeatedly tell
them to step back. They spoke directly to us even though they were
instructed not to. They were asking questions meant to harass us and delay
the process, like asking us where we lived and things of that nature. A lot
of them refused to wear masks properly, if at all.

I was at working at the third row of tables away from the glass when people
were locked out. It was horrible. By the time the doors were locked, there
were already so many challengers in there, and everyone was so close to
us. The situation got so much more tense when the doors were locked. We
started noticing that people were pounding on the glass. People thought
that they could just walk in, they did not realize that they had to be trained
or actually be a challenger. We were all worried because we didn’t know
who these people were. My supervisor instructed us to move our bags
away from our feet so that we didn’t have any obstructions in case we
needed to run. The #2 person stood up because she didn’t feel comfortable
having her back to the glass. It was really scary.

I saw a man standing on the window mullion that was three feet off of the
ground, separating a top and bottom window. He was pounding on the

glass. I saw the glass flexing and I was thinking, “These people are going
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DECLARATION OF BRANDY Y. ROBINSON

Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1746, I, Brandy Y. Robinson, hereby declare as follows:

I. My name is Brandy Robinson. I live and am a registered voter in the City of
Detroit. I am a Michigan-barred attorney and I practice law in the City of Detroit.

2. I served as a credentialed challenger for the Michigan Democratic Party at the
Absentee Voter Counting Boards (AVCB) in my city on November 4, 2020. The night before, |
had seen a social media post saying that there were scores of Republican challengers heading to
the TCF Center. I had previously done work on Election Day, and so this report set off alarm
bells for me because it really seemed like an outlier experience. I woke up around 5:30 a.m., and
asked around in my network and learned about the need for Democratic challengers. I arrived at
the TCF Center just before 8:00 a.m. I worked until about 5:10 p.m., with a break to eat a
sandwich in the lobby for around 35 minutes.

3. When I entered the room at TCF, there were two tables set up side by side, where
workers were checking folks in. I gave them my name, they checked my credential, and gave me
the instruction that if I had any questions I should direct them to the supervisors, and not directly
to the line level poll workers.

4. I immediately observed many Republican challengers in the counting room.

Some were wearing an MIGOP tag around their necks, and others identified themselves as
Republican Party challengers when I would just ask who they represented. In the morning, it
was my strong impression that there were more Republican than Democratic challengers in the
room. This was concerning to me because I thought it had the potential to become hectic when

the ratio was so far out of balance. Over the course of the morning, more Democratic
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challengers showed up, and the ratio was balanced. Around noon, additional people from both
political parties showed up, and it started to become physically crowded in the room.

5. I was present in the counting room when the election officials stopped letting
people in. There were many both Republican and Democratic challengers in the room at that
time. Some of the Republican challengers in the room were becoming disruptive at this point.
There were several who were extremely angry because they seemed to believe that only
challengers from their political party were left out of the room, but that was not true. I had
friends who were trying to enter the TCF Center as Democratic challengers but they were also
kept out of the counting room at that time. At that time, Republican affiliated challengers began
to chant “STOP THE COUNT” and caused a commotion from this behavior in the counting
room. I could not identify who started the chant, but it made me very concerned. It was
completely inappropriate for that kind of disruption to occur in the place where election workers
were counting votes. I felt panicked, and specifically started looking for police officers who
could help prevent the disruption to counting from re-occurring. Neither the police nor the
corporation counsel would step in to address the chanting and commotion in the counting room
though. There was more than adequate representation from all of the challenger groups on the
floor during this entire time.

6. I observed Republican challengers standing behind the adjudicators’ table in the
center of the room. They all had sight lines onto the computer monitors and one of the election
supervisors even had the workers Zoom in on their screens so that the challengers could see the
disputed ballots better. The floor had been marked with tape where people were supposed to
stand, and several Republican challengers kept stepping ahead of this line. They were

continually speaking directly to the workers who were trying to get through the ballots. It was
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quite clear to me that they did not understand the process, and in my view it was inappropriate
for the Republican challengers to show up at the Counting Boards uninformed and then disrupt
the people who were actually engaging in the process. The constant interruptions of the workers
at the adjudication table was making it hard for them to work efficiently, so I told the Republican
challengers that they needed to engage with the supervisor if they had questions, as we had been
instructed. They did not back off until I had protracted discussions with them. They were
slowing down the counting process when they should have come to the Counting Board prepared
to know about the process in the first place.

7. Between 4:00 — 5:00 p.m., a Republican challenger began insisting that a
particular table processing military ballots was violating the rules. She kept demanding that a
Republican-affiliated poll worker be seated at the table. It was not at all clear that the person she
wanted to have sit at the table was qualified for that purpose. Her behavior was interrupting the
process, and she did not seek out a supervisor who could implement what she was insisting on if
it in fact was required. Poll workers were sitting side by side doing the ballot duplication, and
this female Republican challenger was extremely disruptive. This was particularly problematic
as there was already another Republican challenger, a younger male, observing the processing.
She kept yelling that the Republican challenger (again, not her, but this younger male) could not
see. Whether he could see or not, all he needed to do was step slightly to the side, as I was, so
you could see the ballot being duplicated in front of the election inspectors. She kept insisting,
and so I asked her why she did not switch out with him since she appeared to be the one with the
concern, and he was not raising such an issue. With this screaming going on right behind her

back, one of the election inspectors stood up, and said that it was too stressful for her and she
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was going to take a restroom break. This was a clear incidence of the Republican challenger
disrupting the counting process.

8. Several election inspectors and Democratic challengers made it clear that the was
a male Republican challenger either videotaping or taking photographs of a computer screen.
The man had to be escorted out because that was completely against the rules. When an election
inspector complained that another female Republican challenger was taking video of the election
workers, I confronted her with the complaint and asked her to stop. Breaking the rules in this
manner was particularly concerning as the challengers had full access to the process throughout
the counting room and the media also had complete access and were filming the entire time.

0. I spoke to numerous Republican challengers who were from communities like
Rochester, Royal Oak, and Brighton. I wondered whether any of these folks had genuine
concern for the City of Detroit and its electorate. It would never, and has never, occurred to me
to show up in someone else’s community and presume that their poll workers were fraudulently
tabulating votes. In my view, the behavior of the Republican challengers was rooted in notions
of racial superiority and the view that Detroit’s largely Black poll workers were incompetent and
incapable of accurately processing votes. This was demonstrated by the way in which they were
insisting that the elections workers were not doing their jobs correctly, when in fact, the election
inspectors were doing their jobs correctly and the things that the Republican challengers were
insisting they do instead were incorrect.

I swear under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. Executed on

November 17, 2020

Brandy Y. Robinson
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election supervisor that he did not appear to have credentials. She went over and spoke with
him, and he pulled a paper out of his pocket and showed it to her.

5. At the start of the day, perhaps between 9:00-10:00 a.m., the Republican
challengers were quire aggressive. Patrick Colbeck—I know who he is because he was an
elected official before—was directing Republican challengers to go every table and challenge
every ballot because there were not enough Republicans. This seemed belied by the number of
Republicans in the room at this point. His objections were noted in the electronic poll book, but
the workers told him that such an objection did not mean that they would stop counting ballots.
He left around 11:00 a.m., and the room mellowed for about an hour or so.

6. At around noon, we heard the Republican challengers being briefed, and their
leaders were telling them that they needed to be more aggressive. I had some conversations with
Republican challengers who were stationed near me, and they told me that they were told to be
more aggressive. I personally observed a female Republican challenger challenging every ballot,
even before it was pulled up on the computer screen.

7. At around 2:00 p.m., they st(;pped letting people in because the room was at
capacity. There were still plenty of both Republican and Democratic challengers in the room at
that point; still easily a 1:1 ratio of Republicans to Democratic challengers. For some
documentation that there were Republican challengers in the room: two female Republican
challengers did a stand-up interview in front of the media about the supposed law suit. It was my
understanding that only one Republican credentialed challenger was trying to get back in and the
other people were Republican poll watchers. I could see out the windows and there was a lot of
pushing and shoving among those in the crowd, and the police were not really responding yet

when the crowd first formed, and it was an elections official who was telling the crowd we were
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at capacity in the room. Not long after that, more Detroit police arrived, and they marked out a
three-foot cordon from the door, but not from the windows. It began with dozens, and I would
estimate expanded to around 100 Republican challengers or poll watchers who were very
agitated, very angry, and chanting “stop the count.” We then observed that the people in the
crowd were filming into the room on their smart phones and someone said that they were putting
it on Facebook. This scared everyone, as no one wants to be doxed or become the physical
victim of irrational people, and so that is when poster board was put up on the windows. I
observed a lot of the poll workers discussing this and both workers and other challengers were
concerned about the people making the ruckus right outside.

8. After that point, the numerous Republican challengers in the room were saying
that they were blanket challenging all of the ballots being counted. I saw the specific phrase they
were saying physically written down in Republican challenger’s notes: “I issue a blanket
challenge to all of the ballots being processed here on the basis of pending litigation.” I saw
Republican challengers distributing this language on slips of paper to the other Republican
challengers. |

9. I was not stationed at a particular table, but was walking around the floor the
whole time to assist as needed, provide information to other Democratic challengers and the like.
We viewed our job as observing, not interfering with the process, and making sure that
Republican challengers were not interfering with the poll workers. An overarching observation I
made the whole time was that the Republican challengers did not respect social distancing. 1 saw
Republican challengers being repeatedly asked to move and not moving. This failure to observe
appropriate distancing did not result in their being ejected. One male Republican challenger

refused to move back from the poll workers upon being repeatedly asked, and a female
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Democratic challenger who is a friend of mine was observing at the same table, and she
indicated that they both needed to step back, and he threatened her with his “Second Amendment
rights.” I believe he was ejected because of making that threat.

10. I observed the ballot duplication process, which to me, appeared to be an arduous
process with many checks and balances. Every time that I saw it getting ready to be done, if
there wasn’t a Republican challenger there already, I would go get one and bring them over so
that the workers wouldn’t have to wait. One election inspector would read the indication on the
individual ballot outloud, one would then confirm what was said and mark the new ballot, and
then there was a supervisor present. Each one that I observed had both Republican and
Democratic challengers looking on.

11.  Ialso observed the military ballot process which was pretty much the same. I was
initially personally confused why they needed to be duplicated, but was told that the ballots
could not be scanned so had to be duplicated to be read by the tabulator. The same duplication
process occurred. There were at least 3, and sometimes 4 or more challengers from both parties
and multiple non-partisan group all observiné this process, and every challenge was noted by the
workers.

12. My consistent observation is that it was a very ordinary and pain-staking process
for the election workers to do their job. The only behavior I viewed as constituting intimidation

was on the part of Republican challengers.

I swear under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. Executed on

< I

FEdward Staeblér 1

November ll, 2020
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